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Agenda 

0.   Preview 

1. Warm-up quiz on trade patterns 

2. Introduction to trade data for goods 

3. Commodity codes 

4. Free databases from the U.S. & U.N. 

5. Short discussion of subscription databases 

 

 

(Slides will be available online soon.) 

 

Exploring the 
quiz questions 



Preview: 

• Who imports Cuban cigars? 











Guides for future reference 
From libraries 
• http://uncg.libguides.com/trade  

• http://guides.library.georgetown.edu/International_Trade  

• http://libguides.princeton.edu/trade 

 

From .GOVs 
• http://www.trade.gov/mas/ian/referenceinfo/tg_ian_001872.asp  -- “Trade Data Basics” 

• http://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/ 

• https://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/guide/index.html 

• http://www.export.gov/tradedata/index.asp 

• http://www.bea.gov/international/index.htm (trade in services & intellectual property) 

 

A data librarian’s recent book that describes core trade data sources: 

• The Reference Guide To Data Sources (see ch. 16: Economics: Trade & Tariffs) by Julia 
Bauder (ALA editions, 2014) 
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First, a quiz!  

1. What product category leads California exports? 

2. Which state exports the most transportation 
equipment? 

3. What is the most imported type of product from 
Canada to the U.S.? 

4. What is Thailand’s biggest export to China? 

5. What country exports the most raw, natural cork? 



2. Introduction to trade data for goods 

• US Code Title 13 Ch.9: “to foster, promote, develop, 
and further the commerce, domestic and foreign, of the 
United States and for other lawful purposes.” 

• U.S. Census collects 

• Export value must be more than $2,500 per 
commodity shipped to be recorded (low-value 
exports get estimated) 

 
http://www.trade.gov/mas/ian/referenceinfo/tg_ian_001872.asp 

https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/13/301
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How is U.S. trade data collected? 

Electronic Export Information (EEI) is filed with the Census via: 
• Old tool: Shipper’s Declaration 
• Newer tool: Automated Export System (AES): web-

based and software: https://aesdirect.census.gov/ 
• https://aesdirect.census.gov/download/userguide/AESD

irect_Sample_Shipment_05-28-2014.pdf (a sample) 
 

Imports:  
• “Compiled primarily from automated data submitted 

through the U.S. Customs' Automated Commercial 
System.” 

• http://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/guide/sec2.html#source  
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Data collected: 

• Commodity classification (HS code) 

• Quantity (measurement units vary by type of 
product) 

• Value (FIS incoterm (Free Alongside Ship)) 

• Shipping weight 

• Method of transportation (air or vessel) 

• State of origin (movement) 

• Customs district 

• Customs port 

• Country of destination 



Reminder: This trade data is country 
data, not company data 

• Trade data reflects trade flow between places, not 
between exporting and importing companies.  

• There are vendors that sell data regarding the exports 
or imports of companies (ex. PIERS & Datamyne) 

• Such data usually only covers ports (container shipping) 
• For competitive intelligence, can be problematic since 

companies often trade through third-party intermediaries like 
freight-forwarders or export management companies 

• The Census’ Exporter Database and Importer Database 
only available to qualified researchers with approved 
projects via Census Research Data Centers 

 

https://www.piers.com/
http://www.datamyne.com/
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Global v. Bilateral data 

• Global: country to world 

• Bilateral: country to country 







090111 = coffee, not roasted, not decaffeinated 





Sources of international trade data 

• United Nations – International Trade Centre  
• Collects and standardizes data from each UN member 

• COMTRADE is their master database 

• WTO involved too, though 

 

 
 

The OECD, Eurostat, & the World Bank publish some trade 
data too. 



Tariffs & VATs 

• Tariff = duties on imported goods  

• VAT = value added tax  

 

Resources 

• http://wits.worldbank.org/ 
• https://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/tariffs_e/tariff_data_e.htm  

• U.S. Trade Representative: National Trade Estimate 
Report on Foreign Trade Barriers:  
https://ustr.gov/about-us/policy-offices/press-office/reports-and-
publications/2015/2015-national-trade-estimate  
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Trade in Services 
http://www.trade.gov/mas/ian/referenceinfo/tg_ian_001872.asp  

• Bureau of Economic Analysis 

• “Based on quarterly, annual, and benchmark surveys 
and partial information generated from monthly 
reports” 

• “Services trade totals are then estimated from these 
survey results.” 

• “Limited country or area detail is available due to the 
lack of adequate source data upon which to base 
estimates.” 

• http://www.bea.gov/iTable/iTable.cfm?ReqID=62&step=1#reqid=62&step=1&isuri=1  

• http://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/Press-Release/current_press_release/index.html 

 

 

http://www.trade.gov/mas/ian/referenceinfo/tg_ian_001872.asp
http://www.trade.gov/mas/ian/referenceinfo/tg_ian_001872.asp
http://www.bea.gov/iTable/iTable.cfm?ReqID=62&step=1#reqid=62&step=1&isuri=1
http://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/Press-Release/current_press_release/index.html
http://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/Press-Release/current_press_release/index.html
http://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/Press-Release/current_press_release/index.html
http://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/Press-Release/current_press_release/index.html
http://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/Press-Release/current_press_release/index.html


3. Commodity codes  

• HS/HTS 

• SITC 

• NAICS* 

 

 

 

 

 

*not really, but used for trade data too 



HS codes 

• Harmonized System (HS)  
• World Customs Organization 

• Classifies commodities/products 

• 6-digits long; used globally 
 

• US version = Harmonized Tariff Schedule/System (HTS) 

• For U.S. exports, up to 10-digits  
• Also called “Schedule B” 

• For US imports, also up to 10-digits 
• But not necessarily the same as Schedule B at the 8- 

and 10-digit level 

 



HS codes: updated regularly 

• HS/global codes: updated annually 

• HTS/U.S. codes: can be updated anytime 

 

• Codes can be changed or added 

• These updates can make time series analysis more 
complicated 

• Example of a recent change: 







Searching & Browsing HS codes 

• Export codes/Schedule B: 
http://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/schedules/b/index.html  

• Import codes:  
http://hts.usitc.gov/ or 
http://www.usitc.gov/tata/hts/bychapter/index.htm  
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Schedule B: 
http://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/schedules/b/index.html  

• Chapter (PDF or HTML) 
• Begins with scope notes, definitions, cross-references 

• Can see hierarchies and product families 

• Search engine 
• Contracted out to 3CE (company in Montreal) 

• Artificial intelligence/decision tree 

• Best to double-check the chapter for your desired code 
(ex. to review scope notes, other members of the HS 
product family, etc.) 

http://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/schedules/b/index.html
http://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/schedules/b/index.html
http://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/schedules/b/index.html


? 







Exercise: Looking up a code 

• What is the 10-digit Schedule B code for a wooden 
table intended for use in a living room? 

 



HS codes: structured & hierarchical 

• Schedule B has 98 chapters (sections) based on the 
98 2-digit codes. 

• Each chapter covers a broad product group. 

• Codes are hierarchical: longer codes define a more 
detailed product 

• Long codes are often part of a product family 



HS codes: short & long 

• Examples:  
• men’s cotton t-shirts, knitted or crocheted = 610910 

• men’s cotton thermal undershirts, knitted or crocheted = 
6109100011 

• Can be 2, 4, 6, 8, or 10-digits long 

• Codes are based primarily on the composition of 
the material, but sometimes also how the material 
is manufactured.  



Hierarchy example: 
 
61 Articles of Apparel and Clothing Accessories, Knitted or Crocheted 
6110 Sweaters, pullovers, sweatshirts, waistcoats (vests), and similar articles  
611020 Of cotton, containing 36 percent or more by weight of flax fibers 
6110201020 Women or girls’ 

 

Therefore the full product description of 6110201020 is: 

“Sweaters, pullovers waistcoats (vests), and similar articles of 
cotton, containing 36 percent or more by weight of flax 
fibers, for women or girls.” 

 



SITC: UN commodity codes 

• Standard International Trade Classification 

• http://unstats.un.org/unsd/trade/sitcrev4.htm 

• Structure: http://unstats.un.org/unsd/cr/registry/regcst.asp?Cl=28&Lg=1  

• Nine top levels 

• Maximum length: 5 digits 

• Hierarchical 

• But UN trade data also available at 6-digit HS 
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NAICS codes 

• U.S. Census industry codes (Economic Census), but 
also used by some U.S. trade databases 

• http://www.census.gov/cgi-bin/sssd/naics/naicsrch?chart=2012  

• Up to 6-digits long 

• Hierarchical 

• Useful (naturally) for industry trade trends, as 
opposed to product or product groups 

http://www.census.gov/cgi-bin/sssd/naics/naicsrch?chart=2012
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Correspondence/concordance tables 

• Examples: HS to NAICS; SITC to TC 

• Can be messy to compare different data from 
coding systems – be careful 

• These tables can get out of date quickly 
• http://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/reference/codes/index.html#concordance  

• http://unstats.un.org/unsd/cr/registry/regot.asp?Lg=1  
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4. Some free sources 

• TradeStats Express (US ITA) 

• State Trade Data (US Census) 

• USITC Interactive Tariff and Trade DataWeb (requires 
free registration) 

• Trade Data Online (Industry Canada) (includes US 
data) 

• Trade Map, International Trade Center (UN/WTO) 

 

On Oct. 15, the Census’ “USA Trade Online” will 
become free to all: https://usatrade.census.gov/  

 

https://usatrade.census.gov/
https://usatrade.census.gov/


TradeStats Express (US ITA) 
http://tse.export.gov/  

• Exports and imports 

• Up to 4-digit HS, 3-digit SITC, & 4-digit NAICS 

• Two parts:  
• “National Trade Data”  

• “State Export Data” (NAICS only) 

• Data since 2002 (national data) & 1999 (state data) 

• Provides basic visual representations of trade, as 
well as spreadsheet downloads 

http://tse.export.gov/
http://tse.export.gov/


State Trade Data (US Census) 
http://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/statistics/state/index.html  

• Reflects origin of movement (OM), which is not 
always the production origin. This definition affects 
agricultural exports the most. 

• Exports and imports 

• Provides lists (so not a database) but includes CSV 
links 

• Top 25 commodities for each state, classified by 6-
digit HS/Schedule B 

• Top 25 trading partner countries for each state. 

• Covers last 4 years 
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Digression: MSA summaries 

• ITA MSA summaries. www.trade.gov/metrodata  

• Brookings Institution: Export Monitor: 
www.brookings.edu/research/interactives/2015/export-monitor#10420  

http://www.trade.gov/metrodata
http://www.brookings.edu/research/interactives/2015/export-monitor#10420
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USITC Interactive Tariff and Trade DataWeb 
http://dataweb.usitc.gov/  

• Requires free registration 

• Most comprehensive & flexible free source for US  

• Exports & imports 

• 1989 to near-present; annual, quarterly, or monthly 

• Up to 10-digit HS codes (also supports SITC, NAICS, 
SIC at all levels) 

• Provides CSV download links 

• Can look intimating at first, but many of the selection 
boxes can be ignored as you build a search 

 

 

 

http://dataweb.usitc.gov/
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In case anyone asks… 
• “Total exports” measures the total physical movement of goods 

out of the United States to foreign countries whether such goods 
are exported from within the U.S. customs territory or from a 
Customs and Border Protection (Customs) bonded warehouse or a 
U.S. Foreign Trade Zone. 

• “Domestic exports” measures goods that are grown, produced, or 
manufactured in the United States, and commodities of foreign 
origin that have been changed in the United States. Goods may be 
changed in a U.S. FTZ, from the form in which they were imported, 
or they may be enhanced in value or improved in condition by 
further processing or manufacturing in the United States.  

• “Re‐exports” measures foreign‐origin goods that have previously 
entered the U.S. customs territory, a Customs bonded warehouse, 
or a U.S. FTZ, and, at the time of exportation, have undergone no 
change in form or condition or enhancement in value by further 
manufacturing in the U.S. customs territory or U.S. FTZs.   
 
http://www.usitc.gov/publications/research/tradestatsnote.pdf  

http://www.usitc.gov/publications/research/tradestatsnote.pdf
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In case anyone asks (part 2)… 

• “General imports” measures the total physical arrivals of 
merchandise from foreign countries, whether such 
merchandise enters the U.S. customs territory immediately 
or is entered into bonded warehouses or FTZs under 
Customs custody.  

• “Imports for consumption” measures the total of 
merchandise that has physically cleared through Customs 
immediately or after withdrawal for consumption from 
bonded warehouses or FTZs under Customs custody. 
 
http://www.usitc.gov/publications/research/tradestatsnote.pdf  

http://www.usitc.gov/publications/research/tradestatsnote.pdf
http://www.usitc.gov/publications/research/tradestatsnote.pdf


Trade Data Online (Industry Canada) 
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/tdo-dcd.nsf/eng/Home  

• I like this site for its rankings of top commodities, 
and the graphing option. 

• Covers Canada, its provinces, and the U.S. 

• Up to 6-digit HS codes. 

• Covers 1990-present 

• Note default currency is Canadian (US $ available) 

• Industry search is Canadian only (6-digit NAICS) 

• Provides download options 
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Trade Map, International Trade Center (UN/WTO) 
http://www.trademap.org/ 

• Three levels of data access: Free/anonymous, 
free/registration, subscription 

• Global data 

• Up to 4-digit HS (free/anon); 6-digit HS (free/reg) 

• Covers last 5 years 

• Data in value, quantities, share, growth, & index 

• Graphs & maps too 

http://www.trademap.org/
http://www.trademap.org/


5. Short discussion of subscription sources 

• For the money, users typically gain longer HS codes, 
more years, and/or more frequent data (ex. 
monthly) 

• May have better display or mapping options 

• Carefully explore the free options first, though.  
• For example, I don’t know if UNCG really needs to pay for 

COMTRADE and the PC-TAS CD anymore 

• Also look at USA Trade Online (Census) when it goes free 
next month 

 

 

 



Some subscription sources 

• COMTRADE: http://comtrade.un.org/  
• 1962-present; 6-d HS or 5-d SITC 

• (PCTAS = cd-rom version w. 5 years data in same row, 
good for time series calculations across countries) 
 

• ImportGenius: https://www.importgenius.com/  
• Shipping manifests for U.S. imports; data from Latin 

American countries. 

• Free access to campuses 

 

http://comtrade.un.org/
http://comtrade.un.org/
https://www.importgenius.com/
https://www.importgenius.com/


More subscription sources 

• WiserTrade: http://www.wisertrade.org/  
• U.S., state, and country data 

• Visualization tools and more 

 

• Global Trade Information Services: http://gtis.com/ 
• Global Trade Atlas 

• State Export Edition (up to 6-digit HS codes for state-level 
data) 

 

 

 

 

http://www.wisertrade.org/
http://www.wisertrade.org/
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Final questions and discussion 

• Thank you! --Steve 

• smcramer@uncg.edu 


